03/18/2025

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0584

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA CAUSE NO. DA 23-0584

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

and

WILLIE ANTOINE REDD,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appellant/Defendant's Opening Brief

On Appeal from the District Court of the Thirteenth Judicial District of the State of Montana, In and For Yellowstone County

Before the Honorable Brett Linneweber Cause No. DC 21-0218

RUFUS I. PEACE
Peace Law Group, LLC
7643 Gate Parkway
Suite 104-1267
Jacksonville, FL 32256
Telephone (406) 600-6647
rufus@integrityfirstlaw.com

AUSTIN KNUDSON
Montana Attorney General
C. MARK FOWLER

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the District Court erred by denying Redd's Motion to Dismiss for multiple violations of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, when the State lodged a warrant detaining Redd and made a written request for Redd to be transferred to State custody?
- II. Whether the District Court erred by denying Redd's Motion to Dismiss for lack of speedy trial, when the delay bringing Redd to trial was 613 days and Redd remained in custody throughout the delay?
- III. Whether the District Court erred by denying Redd's Motion to Dismiss for delay in his initial appearance when the delay between Redd being charged and his initial appearance was 96 days, and that delay was caused by an intentional action by the State?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Willie Antoine Redd ("Redd") was convicted of Aggravated Assault, following a jury trial where Redd was found to have assaulted his girlfriend's three-year-old daughter causing severe injuries to the young girl. Redd was sentenced to 20 years imprisonment at the Montana State Prison, with a 15-year parole restriction.

Redd was arrested by the U.S. Marshalls and taken into custody for an unrelated case and placed in the Yellowstone County Detention Facility (YCDF). The day after his arrest, the Yellowstone District Court issued an arrest warrant, and a few days later the court issued a *writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum* requesting Redd be transferred back to state custody for prosecution, invoking the protections

of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers. However, Redd was not served the warrant for 91 days or seen by district court for 96 days.

Redd's first trial date was October 25, 2021, ten days prior to trial, the district court saw Redd for the first time after his initial appearance at a trial status hearing where Redd's counsel informed the court that he had not spoken with Redd or prepared for trial and requested a continuance. The attorney client relationship deteriorated, and Redd requested new counsel on December 1, 2021.

Several months later Redd was appointed new counsel and after an initial continuance, filed Redd's first Motion to Dismiss fof violations of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, which was denied. Redd's trial was delayed multiple times for reasons beyond Redd's control until October 24, 2022. Shortly before trial, Redd retained private counsel and waived his speedy trial right for all time past October 24, 2022, leaving 613 days for consideration in this appeal. Redd's private counsel filed two motions to dismiss, one based upon a lack of speedy trial, and another for a delay in arraignment, both were denied. Redd was eventually taken to trial and found guilty of Aggravated Assault.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Redd argues that the district court erred by denying his motions to dismiss, on the basis that the State violated the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, by failing to take him to trial within 120 days, failing to accept custody of Redd, and in the alternative that Redd was returned to federal custody prior to trial, all violations of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers that required dismissal with prejudice.

Redd further argues the 613 days between being accused and trial violated his right to a speedy trial. Applying the four factor *Ariegwe* test, the 613-day delay is presumptively prejudicial, with 300 days of the delay charged against the State, and importantly the first 91 days attributable to the State's intentional decision not to bring Redd to trial. Moreover, Redd suffered prejudice from the delay as his confinement was oppressive, with Redd being locked down 23 hours per day for much of the time, and Redd suffered increased anxiety and stress based upon the delay. Further, Redd affirmatively asserted his desire for speedy trial while only agreeing to delays necessary to preserve other vital rights. This was a violation of Redd's right to a speedy trial and warranted dismissal.

Finally, Redd argues the 96-day delay between being arrested and his initial appearance warranted dismissal. This delay was a result of an intentional choice by the State, and based upon this Court's precedent, the appropriate remedy is dismissal. While this Court has determined in several cases that dismissal without prejudice is appropriate, it has repeatedly indicated that where the delay was caused by intentional State action, the remedy is dismissal with prejudice. This is the situation in Redd's case, and dismissal with prejudice was warranted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Beginning at 11:30 in the morning of February 2, 2021, until between 2:30 and 3:00 am on February 3, 2021, Redd was babysitting the three-year-old child of his then girlfriend, Taylor Morgan ("Taylor"). See Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial Day 5, March 13, 2023 ("Tr. JT Day 4"), 960:13-16, 964:10-11, 966:49-22; Doc. 1, Motion for Leave to File Information with Supporting Affidavit. Redd was the only person with the three-year-old throughout the day and into the early morning of February 3, 2021. See Doc. 1. When Taylor's daughter was returned, her daughter was injured and Taylor, concerned for her daughter's safety, took her daughter to the emergency room. Tr. JT Day 4, 969:14-971:8.

Taylor initially told the doctors she was driving when she was forced to hit the brakes and her daughter, being unsecured, flew into the windshield causing injuries to the little girl. Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial Day 5, March 14, 2023 ("Tr. JT Day 5"), 984:20-985:2.

Doctors determined the three-year-old's injuries were severe and life threatening, so they organized a life flight to Denver Children's Hospital. Transcript of Proceedings, Jury Trial Day 1, March 8, 2023 ("Tr. JT Day 1"), 197:21-198:4. Doctors were unconvinced by Taylor's description of how her daughter became injured, and law enforcement was notified. *Id.*, 200:2-22.

The investigation quickly turned toward Redd as the only person with the three-year-old prior to her being injured. Tr. JT Day 4, 727:15-17, 832:9-14.

On February 17, 2021, Redd was arrested by U.S. Marshalls and transported to the Billings Police Department ("BPD"), at least in part in response to a request for assistance from BPD, but officially for an unrelated probation violation. Transcript of Proceedings, December 16, 2022, Motions Hearing ("Tr. Dec 16, 2022"), 15:14-19;33:6-10;16:16-25. At BPD, officers interviewed Redd, and he was then taken to the Yellowstone County Detention Facility ("YCDF"). *Id.*, 17:23-18; 19:19-22. While it was disputed, it appears that BPD officers transported Redd from the interview to YCDF. Id., 19:19-20:25; 22:1-5; 70:22-25.

The following day, the State filed its Information charging Redd with Aggravated Assault, for purposefully or knowingly causing serious bodily injury to the three-year-old. Doc. 3. The same day (February 18, 2021), the district court issued a Warrant of Arrest directing all peace officers in Montana to immediately take Redd into custody and bring him before the court or "the most accessible Judge in this County without unnecessary delay." Doc. 5.

On February 19, 2021, the State petitioned the district court to issue a writ of habeas corpus ad prsequendum, and on February 22, the district court issued the writ. See Doc. 6 & 9.

Between February 18, and May 20, 2021, Redd remained at the YCDF, without representation and having not been served the State's warrant. On May 20, 2021, Redd was sentenced in the federal case, and on the same day served the State's warrant. See Doc. 37, Redd's Motion to Dismiss, Exhibit A; Doc. 38, State's Response to Motion to Dismiss, ¶ 4, and Exhibit A.

Redd was arraigned on May 24, 2021, 95 days after the warrant was issued. See Doc. 10, Minute Entry. On July 2, 2021, Redd was first assigned counsel, who was quickly replaced on July 6 by attorney Tomicich from the Office of Public Defenders ("OPD"). See Doc. 14 & 15.

On September 25, 2021, Redd sent his first "kite" to Tomicich asking him to visit and stating "I do not wish to waive my right to speedy trial rights. I have yet to see you since you've been appointed, which was July 6th, 2021. Please respond." Tr. Dec 16, 2022, 71:16-25; 72:1-18.

On October 27, 2021, Redd sent a second "kite" to Tomicich informing him that Redd opposed any motion to continue, and he "will not, under any circumstances, waive my right to a speedy trial." *Id.*, 73:1-8.

On November 4, 2021, Redd sent a "kite" stating "[P]lease be advised I will not waive my right to speedy trial." *Id.*, 73:15-74:3.

On October 15, 2021, 10 days prior to trial, the district court held a status hearing. Transcript of Proceedings, October 15, 2021, Status Hearing ("Tr. Oct. 15, 2021"), generally; Tr. Dec 16, 2022, 85:18-21.

At the hearing, Tomicich informed the district court he and the State had conferred, and they requested scheduling conference because Tomicich had not seen Redd due to believing Redd was in federal custody. Tr. Oct. 15, 2021, 4:7-16.

At some point in late October, Redd met with Tomicich but was not provided any discovery in his case. *Id.*, 74:8-16. Then on November 10, 2021, Redd sent another "kite" informing Tomicich that Redd opposed "any continuance and will not waive my right to a speedy trial." *Id.*, 74:15-23.

On November 13, 2021, Redd again sent a "kite" informing Tomicich that he opposed any continuance, and refused to waive his right to a speedy trial. *Id.*, 75:7-16.

On November 24, 2021, the district court convened a scheduling conference. See Transcript of Proceedings, November 24, 2021, Scheduling Conference, generally. At this hearing, it was determined no omnibus hearing had occurred, and Redd spoke up about his growing concerns with Tomicich. *Id.*, 4:13-14. Redd further expressed his frustration regarding what happened to the October 25, 2021 trial date because no motion had been filed to continue it, and no one communicated what happened to him. *Id.*, 8:15-25.

The district court set a December 1, 2021, Finely/omnibus hearing and stated the court would then set a new trial date and entertain Redd's concern with his counsel at that time. *Id.*, 9:18-10:3.

At the December 1, 2021 hearing, Redd asked for new counsel and again questioned the district court regarding speedy trial because 200 days had passed since the warrant was served.¹ Transcript of Proceedings, December 1, 2021, Omnibus/Finley Hearing ("Tr. Dec. 1, 2021"), 4:25-5:5; 5:24-6:5; 7:1-4. After questioning Redd, the district court allowed Tomicich to withdraw and ordered Redd be appointed a new attorney. *Id.*, 12:8-15.

On January 26, 2022, Redd was appointed new counsel, who was replaced a few days later by attorney Gordon, contracted by OPD. See Doc. 26 & 27.

On March 7, 2022, the district court held a status hearing and Gordon informed the court Redd opposed any continuances and asked to confirm a trial date. Transcript of Proceedings, March 7, 2022, Status Hearing, 4:10-13. Again no omnibus had occurred. *Id.*, 6:11-19.

On March 21, 2022, a bond reduction hearing was held and Redd's request for a bond reduction was denied. See Doc. 35.

On April 1, 2022, a status hearing was held, and Redd requested a continuance to file a Motion to Dismiss, and trial was reset until May 9, 2022.

_

¹ This was Redd's assertion, but the correct number of days was 195.

On April 7, 2022, Redd filed his Motion to Dismiss for violations of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers. See Doc. 37 & 42.

On April 29, 2022, the district court *sua sponte* reset Redd's trial to May 23, 2022. Transcript of Proceedings, April 29, 2022, Status Hearing, 7:25-8:6.

On May 4, 2022, the district court was notified that attorney Gordon had suffered a personal emergency. Although it is unknown what the emergency was, the district court was satisfied and Redd's trial was vacated. See Doc. 44, Minute Entry.

On June 20, 2022, Gordon was back from the emergency and the district court reset Redd's trial to occur October 24, 2022. See Doc. 46-47.

On August 25, 2022 the district court issued its Order Denying Redd's Motion to Dismiss, reasoning the *writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum* was not a detainer so the Interstate Agreement on Detainers did not apply. See Doc. 54.

On October 3, 2022 attorney Stephens, privately retained by Redd, appeared on Redd's behalf. Doc. 77. A Status of Counsel hearing occurred the next day, and Stephens requested a continuance to prepare for trial, and Redd waived his right to speedy trial from the October 24, 2022 trial setting forward. Transcript of Proceedings, October 4, 2022, Status of Counsel Hearing, 11:22-12:1.

Redd then filed his Motion to Dismiss based upon the denial of his right to a speedy trial, and Motion to Dismiss based upon delay in his initial appearance. Doc 83, 84, 92 & 93.

On December 16, 2022, the district court held a hearing on Redd's Motions, based upon testimony, upon arrival at the YCDF Redd was placed in "Class A," or maximum security custody, where he was locked in a cell 23 hours per day, without the normal accommodations inmates in general population receive. Tr. Dec. 16, 2022, 47:22-24; 55:3-16. In Class A, Redd received virtually no rehabilitative programming. *Id.*, 79:7-80:5. AA would come to YCDF approximately every two weeks, but often could not make it to Class A. *Id.*, 79:9-15. Aside from sporadic visits from AA, Redd did occasionally attend bible study. *Id.*, 79:25-80:5.

While incarcerated, Redd suffered from indigestion and could not eat the normal meals provided and could not afford commissary items due to the expense. *Id.*, 78:14-79:6. Further, Redd had difficulty contacting his family, while his family were being targeted by an online campaign against Redd, causing Redd increased stress and anxiety. *Id.*, 79:25-80:5.

Redd was transferred from Class A to general population in September 2022, making Redd's stay in Class A, locked down 23 hours per day, approximately 20 months. Doc. 130, Order Denying, Conclusions of Law ¶ 64.

On February 23, 2023, the district court denied Redd's Motion to Dismiss for lack of speedy trial, and Motion to Dismiss for delay of initial appearance. Doc. 129 & 130.

On March 14, 2023 Redd was found guilty by a jury of Aggravated Assault and on May 2, 2023 sentenced to 20 years imprisonment at the Montana State Prison, with a 15 year parole restriction. See Doc. 177, Judgment.

Redd now appeals his conviction for Aggravated Assault.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Denial of a motion to dismiss in a criminal trial presents a question of law, reviewed to determine if the district court's conclusions of law are correct. *State v. McWilliams*, 2008 MT 59, P 22, 341 Mont. 517, 178 P.3d 121.

This Court reviews a district court's decision on a speedy trial claim de novo to determine whether the decision was correct. *State v. Brekke*, 2017 MT 81, ¶ 10, 387 Mont. 218, 392 P.3d 570, citing *State v. Velasquez*, 2016 MT 216, ¶ 6, 384 Mont. 447, 377 P.3d 1235.

All issues presented by Redd are reviewed do novo to determine if the district court's decisions were correct.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENING REDD'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE INTERSTATE AGREEMENT ON DETAINERS WHEN THE STATE INVOKED THE AGREEMENT'S PROVISIONS AND FAILED TO MEET ITS REQUIREMENTS

The Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act (IAD) is a compact between states and the Federal Government; adopted by Montana in 1963 it is codified at Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101 through § 46-31-204 (2023). *State v. Nickerson*, 2014 MT 83, ¶ 7, 374 Mont. 354, 322 P.3d 421. While the IAD is codified in Montana law, it is a federal law subject to federal construction and is to be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes. *Nickerson*, at ¶ 7, citing to *Carchman v. Nash*, 473 U.S. 716, 719, 105 S. Ct. 3401, 3403, 87 L. Ed. 2d 516 (1985); IAD, Article IX.

The IAD was created to address the concerns regarding speedy trial rights of persons already incarcerated in other jurisdictions and the effect of detainers impacting prisoner treatment and rehabilitation. IAD, Article I.

Article II, Section 1 defines a "state" to include the United States and every state comprising the United States. Article II, Section 2 and 3 define the "sending state" as the state in which the prison is physically incarcerated, and the "receiving state" as the state in which trial is to be had on the charges.

Article IV, Section 1 allows the jurisdiction where the charges are pending to have an inmate "against whom the officer has lodged a detainer and who is serving

a term of imprisonment in any party state made available...upon presentation of a written request for temporary custody..." When such a request is made, Article IV, Section 3 mandates that trial must commence within 120 days of arrival of the prisoner in the receiving state, and the prisoner must be tried in the receiving state prior to return to the sending state (Article IV, Section 5).

Noncompliance with Article IV's mandates—specifically, the 120-day trial deadline, or the prohibition on pre-trial return to the sending state requires dismissal with prejudice. In this case, the State violated both provisions: it failed to commence Redd's trial within 120 days of his transfer to Montana custody, and it permitted his return to federal custody before trial in August 2023. Further, the State failed to accept custody of Redd, violating Article V, Section 3, which likewise requires dismissal with prejudice.

A. The IAD was Triggered on February 22, 2021 When the State Made a Written Request for Redd's Transfer to State Custody

The IAD applies when a "detainer" is lodged by the receiving state (Montana) with the sending state (Federal Government), followed by a "written request for temporary custody." Article IV, Section 1.

At the district court Redd argued that both or either the warrant or the writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum served as a detainer, while the State maintained that neither served such a purpose. The State primarily relied upon *United States v. Mauro*, 436 U.S. 340, 98 S. Ct. 1834 (1978), which is the seminal case interpreting

the triggering of IAD provisions. The State argued that *Mauro* established a hard and fast rule that *writs of habeas corpus ad prosequendum* are not detainers. While this is correct, it is not a full reading of *Mauro*, and a more complete review of *Mauro* supports Redd's contention his case should have been dismissed under the IAD.

Mauro was two appeals combined for resolution, the first appeal was for Mauro and a second defendant named Fusco. 436 U.S. at 345, 98 S. Ct. at 1839. Mauro and Fusco were both serving time at New York State Prison and were both indicted by a U.S. District Court. *Ibid.* Pursuant to two separate writs of habeas corpus ad prsequendum both were transferred to federal custody for arraignment; however, due to overcrowding, the U.S. District Court ordered both men be returned to state custody while they awaited trial. *Ibid.* Both defendants moved to dismiss their cases alleging their return to state custody mandated dismissal under IAD, Article IV. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 345, 98 S. Ct. 1839.

The US District Court granted the dismissal, and the Second Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 345, 98 S. Ct. 1839-1840.

The second appeal involved a defendant named Ford, who was arrested on federal warrants in Chicago on October 11, 1973. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 346, 98 S. Ct. 1840. Shortly after, Ford was turned over to Illinois custody and extradited to Massachusetts to face trial on unrelated charges. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 346, 98 S. Ct. 1840. After Ford was transferred to Massachusetts, federal officials lodged the federal

warrant as a detainer. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 346, 98 S. Ct. 1840. Following Ford's conviction in Massachusetts, the U.S. District Court issued a *writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum*, bringing Ford into federal custody for arraignment and prosecution. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 346, 98 S. Ct. 1840. Trial was set for May 28, 1971, but after several continuances, trial began August 8, 1975. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 346-47, 98 S. Ct. 1840. Ford moved for dismissal under the IAD, Article IV arguing the government failed to take him to trial within 120 days, and dismissal was required. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 347, 98 S. Ct. 1840-1841. The U.S. District Court denied the motion and the Second Circuit Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for the dismissal with prejudice.

The Government appealed Mauro, Fusco and Ford's cases, and the U.S. Supreme Court granted certiorari.

In Mauro/Fusco's appeal, the Court held that a writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum was not the equivalent of a detainer for purposes of the IAD, so the IAD did not apply. *Id.*, 436 U.S. at 349, 98 S. Ct. 1841.

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