#### 08/11/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0584

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0584

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

WILLIE ANTOINE REDD,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, The Honorable Brett Linneweber, Presiding

#### APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
MARDELL PLOYHAR
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
mployhar@mt.gov

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The court correctly denied Redd's motions to dismiss. The IAD was not triggered because the State did not lodge a detainer against Redd. As a result, he was not entitled to have his trial held within the time set out in the IAD. The IAD also did not apply when Redd was not being held on a prison sentence. Even if the IAD was triggered, the time limit was not violated because Redd's counsel was not prepared for trial any sooner. Also, Redd waived his right to be tried sooner when he failed to request an earlier trial date.

Redd's right to a speedy trial was not violated. After the period of delay leading to the first trial setting, which was caused by institutional delay and by Redd's federal custody, all remaining delay was caused by Redd's filing of motions or his requests to substitute counsel shortly before trial deadlines. Redd's conduct did not demonstrate a sincere desire to have a speedy trial, and he was not prejudiced by the delay.

Redd also had an initial appearance without unnecessary delay. He was not arrested by the State until Thursday May 20, 2021, and he had an arraignment on

the morning of Monday, May 24, 2021. His initial appearance was held in a timely manner.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of review

The district court's denial of a motion to dismiss in a criminal case presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Nickerson*, 2014 MT 83, ¶ 6, 374 Mont. 354, 322 P.3d 421. Underlying findings of fact are reviewed to determine whether they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*; *State v. Steigelman*, 2013 MT 153, ¶ 10, 370 Mont. 352, 302 P.3d 396. Whether the facts establish a speedy trial violation is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Steigelman*, ¶ 10. Whether an initial appearance was held without unnecessary delay is a question of statutory construction this court reviews for correctness. *State v. Norvell*, 2019 MT 105, ¶ 13, 395 Mont. 404, 440 P.3d 634.

- II. The district court correctly denied Redd's motion to dismiss for a violation of the IAD.
  - A. The IAD did not apply because Redd was not serving a term of imprisonment, and no detainer was filed.

The IAD is an interstate compact designed "to encourage the expeditious and orderly disposition of [outstanding] charges and determination of the proper status of any and all detainers based on untried indictments, informations, or

complaints." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art. I; *Nickerson*, ¶ 7. Article III of the IAD provides a procedure by which an inmate can request to be tried within 180 days if a detainer has been filed. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art III(1); *United States v. Mauro*, 436 U.S. 340, 351 (1978). Redd has not made a claim under Article III.

Article IV of the IAD "provides the means by which a prosecutor who has lodged a detainer against a prisoner in another State can secure the prisoner's presence for disposition of the outstanding charges." *Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 351. Article IV(1) provides that an officer in a state in which a charge is pending:

shall be entitled to have a prisoner against whom the officer has lodged a detainer and who is serving a term of imprisonment in any party state made available in accordance with Article V(1) hereof upon presentation of a written request for temporary custody or availability to the appropriate authorities of the state in which the prisoner is incarcerated . . . .

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art. IV(1).

A prosecutor who has filed a detainer can secure the prisoner's presence for disposition of outstanding charges "by presenting to the officials of the State in which the prisoner is incarcerated 'a written request for temporary custody or availability. . . ." *Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 351-52 (quoting Art. IV). If a prosecutor secures the presence of an inmate pursuant to Article IV, the "trial shall be commenced within 120 days of the arrival of the prisoner in the receiving state, but for good cause shown in open court . . ., the court having jurisdiction of the matter

may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art. IV(3); *accord Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 352.

The IAD could not have applied while Redd's federal revocation was pending. The IAD "only applies when a person has 'entered upon a term of imprisonment in a penal or correctional institution of a party State." *United States v. Glasgow, 790 F.2d* 446, 448 (6th Cir. 1985) (quoting IAD Art. III); *see also State v. Fay*, 763 So.2d 473 (Fla. App. 2000). Redd never entered a term of imprisonment in a federal institution. Instead, he was held in the YCDF while his federal revocation was pending, and then he was transferred to Yellowstone County after his federal sentencing. As a result, the IAD never applied.

Also, the IAD is triggered only if the State with untried charges files a detainer with the sending state, *Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 343-44; *see also Nickerson*, ¶ 9, and no detainer was filed. A "detainer is a notification filed with the institution in which a prisoner is serving a sentence, advising that he is wanted to face pending criminal charges in another jurisdiction." *Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 359.

The defendant has the burden to demonstrate authorities from the charging jurisdiction filed a detainer. *See United States v. Weaver*, 882 F.2d 1128, 1133 (7th Cir. 1989); *Davila v. State*, 623 S.W.3d 1, 11 (Tex. App. 2020). In *Davila*, the Texas Court of Appeals held that the IAD did not apply when the State requested and accepted temporary custody of the defendant, but the record did not contain

evidence demonstrating the State lodged a detainer with the out-of-state institution in which Davila was incarcerated. 623 S.W.3d at 11.

The Supreme Court has held a writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum "issued by a federal court to state authorities, directing the production of a state prisoner for trial on criminal charges, is not a detainer within the meaning of the [IAD]." *Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 349; *accord id.* at 361. The court explained that the IAD was drafted because of the lengthy duration of detainers, which disadvantage a prisoner and can remain lodged against the prisoner throughout a sentence. *Id.* at 353, 360. In contrast, writs of habeas corpus ad prosequendum are immediately executed, avoiding the problems created by detainers. *Id.* at 360-61. The court explained that the "role and functioning of the *ad prosequendum* writ... bear little resemblance to the typical detainer which activates the provisions of the [IAD]."

Unlike a writ of habeas corpus *ad prosequendum* issued by a federal district court, a detainer may be lodged against a prisoner on the initiative of a prosecutor or law enforcement officer. Rather than requiring the immediate presence of the prisoner, a detainer merely puts the officials of the institution in which the prisoner is incarcerated on notice that the prisoner is wanted in another jurisdiction for trial upon his release from prison. Further action must be taken by the receiving State in order to obtain the prisoner.

*Id.* at 358.

The Court held that the IAD did not apply to the defendants in *Mauro* who did not have a detainer filed against them. *Id.* at 361. The Court held that another

defendant, Ford, was entitled to dismissal of his charges because the federal government lodged a federal warrant as a detainer with the state prison authorities, federal authorities used a writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum to obtain his presence, and then federal authorities failed to bring Ford to trial within 120 days. *Id.* at 346, 361-62. The Court clarified that a writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum is a "request for temporary custody," which triggers Article IV of the IAD if the State has previously lodged a detainer. *Id.* at 361-62.

The district court correctly denied Redd's motion to dismiss under the IAD because the court's finding that the State did not lodge a detainer is not clearly erroneous, and the IAD does not apply unless the receiving state lodges a detainer. Redd was transferred into state custody on May 20, 2021, pursuant to an Order to Produce issued by a United States marshal. (Doc. 38, Ex. A.) The Order to Produce attached the Writ, (*id.*), which is not a detainer under *Mauro*. There is no evidence the arrest warrant was ever lodged with the federal authorities or that it acted as a detainer. Redd did not demonstrate the State triggered the provisions of the IAD by lodging a detainer.

# B. In the alternative, the IAD was not violated because the time when Redd could not be tried is tolled.

Even if a detainer was filed, the court correctly denied Redd's motion to dismiss because none of the time that passed before the hearing on the motion to dismiss can count against the State because Redd was never ready to go to trial.

Article VI(1) provides that the time periods in the IAD "shall be tolled whenever and for as long as the prisoner is unable to stand trial, as determined by the court having jurisdiction of the matter." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art. VI(1). Some courts have interpreted Article VI(1) to "exclude all those periods of delay occasioned by the defendant." *United States v. Scheer*, 729 F.2d 164, 168 (2d Cir. 1984); accord United States v. Nesbitt, 852 F.2d 1502, 1516 (7th Cir. 1988). In Scheer, the Second Circuit concluded the defendant's rights under the IAD were not violated because nearly all of the delays were attributable to defense motions, including a request for additional time to procure an attorney and a motion to suppress evidence. 729 F.2d at 168. Because he requested these delays for his benefit, the court concluded his rights under the IAD were not violated. See also Nesbitt, 852 F.2d at 1517 (periods of delay caused by defendant's motions operated to toll the running of the IAD for those periods of delay).

Redd came into state custody on May 20, 2021. (Doc. 95, Ex. 2.) Without any tolling, the 120-day period would have expired on September 17, 2021. But Redd did not have counsel appointed until July 2, 2021, so no substantive proceeding, especially no trial, could occur during that time. Under the language of Article VI(1), that time should be tolled. Further, Redd was not ready to go to trial on October 25, 2021, or at future trial settings, so that time should also be tolled. The district court correctly tolled the timeframe when Redd could not have

stood trial. (Appellant's App. D at 6 n.3.) Like *Scheer*, Redd or Redd's counsel were responsible for all of the delays, so his right to be tried within 120 days was not violated.

# C. Redd waived his right to be tried within 120 days when he failed to object to the trial date.

Redd waived his right to be tried within 120 days when he failed to object to the court's May 26, 2021 order setting the trial for October 25, 2021. In *New York v. Hill*, 528 U.S. 110, 113-18 (2000), the Supreme Court held a defendant was barred from seeking dismissal of his case for failure to try him within the IAD time limit because defense counsel agreed to the trial date. Defense counsel had said the court's proposed trial date was "fine." *Id.* at 113. The Supreme Court held the defendant was bound by the representations of his counsel, and counsel's representation waived Hill's right to object to the delay. *Id.* at 114-18. The court explained that many rights may be waived by counsel, and "[s]cheduling matters are plainly among those for which agreement by counsel generally controls." *Id.* at 114-15.

Redd similarly waived his claim that the IAD was violated. The district court scheduled the October 25, 2021 trial date on May 26, 2021. (Doc. 13.) If Redd wanted to be tried within 120 days of entering state custody, he could have objected in a timely manner. By failing to do so, Redd waived his right to be tried within 120 days.

# D. Redd's arguments to the contrary are incorrect

Redd's assertions that the IAD was triggered on February 22, 2021, when the State made a written request for Redd's transfer to State custody (Appellant's Br. at 17), and that the State issued a warrant that was sent to the detention facility before the State requested the writ (Appellant's Br. at 20), are unsupported by the record. The arrest warrant was not served on Redd until May 20, 2021, and there is no evidence it was sent to the YCDF earlier. (Docs. 5, 95, Ex. 2.) Because Redd has not demonstrated the arrest warrant was lodged as a detainer, he has not demonstrated that the IAD applies.

Even if a detainer was lodged, Redd has not demonstrated it was triggered on February 22, 2021. To trigger the protections of the IAD, a state must both lodge a detainer and present "a written request for temporary custody or availability . . . ." to the officials in the sending state. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art. IV(1); *Mauro*, 436 U.S. at 351-52. There is not any evidence the State lodged a detainer or presented federal officials with the writ on February 22, 2021.

Further, Redd's assertion he was "immediately available to the State" (Appellant's Br. at 21) when the writ was issued is unsupported by any evidence. There is no evidence demonstrating federal authorities would have made Redd available when the writ was issued on February 22, 2021, before the resolution of his revocation proceeding. Instead, the record demonstrates a federal marshal

issued an Order to Produce on May 20, 2021, when Redd was sentenced for the revocation of his federal sentence. (Doc. 38, Ex. A.) Redd has not established he was available to the State any earlier.

Redd's argument that the State failed to accept custody, as required under Article V(3), is similarly incorrect. As explained above, there is not any evidence a detainer was filed or that the State could have taken custody before May 20, 2021.

Redd also asserts, without explanation, that he was improperly returned to the sending state in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-31-101, Art. IV(5). Redd did not enter state custody until May 20, 2021, and he remained in state custody until he was tried. Redd's incarceration in the YCDF does not change the fact that he was in federal custody until May 20, 2021. Therefore, Article IV(5) was not violated.

# III. The district court correctly held that Redd's right to a speedy trial was not violated.

When considering a speedy trial claim under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and article II, section 24, of the Montana Constitution, a court balances: (1) length of the delay; (2) reasons for the delay; (3) the accused's responses to the delay; and (4) prejudice to the accused. *State v. Ariegwe*, 2007 MT 204, ¶¶ 106-12, 338 Mont. 442, 167 P.3d 815. The

court must engage in a "sensitive balancing process" that considers all relevant factors. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 533 (1972).

# A. Length of delay

The speedy trial clock begins to run when a defendant is arrested or formally charged. *Ariegwe*, ¶ 42. This Court triggers the speedy trial analysis if the delay is at least 200 days. *Ariegwe*, ¶ 106. Some prejudice is presumed after the 200-day threshold passes, and that prejudice intensifies as the delay extends beyond 200 days. *Ariegwe*, ¶ 44.

The length of time between the filing of the Information on February 18, 2021, and the October 24, 2022, trial setting is 613 days. The trial did not begin until March 8, 2023, but Redd waived his right to a speedy trial concerning any delay after October 24, 2022. (10/4/22 Tr. at 10-11.) Redd calculates the delay as 613 days. (Doc. 84 at 10; Appellant's Br. at 26.) Because Redd waived his right to a speedy trial after October 24, 2022 and relies on that calculation, the court correctly calculated the delay as 613 days. If this Court instead calculates the time until the trial began, the length of delay is 748 days.

# **B.** Reasons for the delay

The district court must identify each period of delay in bringing the accused to trial and attribute each period of delay to the appropriate party. *Ariegwe*, ¶ 108. Any delay not caused by the accused or affirmatively waived by the accused is

attributed to the State. *Id.* The court assigns weight based on the cause and motive for the delay. *Id.* Institutional delays, such as overcrowded court dockets, and delays for valid reasons, such as complex charges or a missing witness, weigh less heavily against the State than lack of diligence, which occupies a middle ground in the culpability scale. *Id.* Bad-faith delay weighs most heavily against the State. *Id.* This Court only considers delays that result in the delay of the trial. *State v. Zimmerman*, 2014 MT 173, ¶ 15, 375 Mont. 374, 328 P.3d 1132.

# 1. First period of delay: 2/18/21 to 10/25/21

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